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This annual report covers both Petratherm Limited (ABN 17 106 806 884) and its controlled entities (“Group”). The 
Group’s functional and presentation currency is Australian Dollars.

A description of the Group’s operations and of its principal activities is included in the review of operations and activities 
in the directors’ report on page 10 to 25. 

Petratherm Competent Persons statement The information contained in this report that relates to Geothermal 
Resources is an extract from a report compiled by Dr Graeme Beardsmore, who appears on the Register of Practicing 
Geothermal Professionals maintained by the Australian Geothermal Energy Group Incorporated at the date of this report.  
Dr Beardsmore is employed by Hot Dry Rocks Pty Ltd, an independent consulting group that provides professional services 
to the Company.  Dr Beardsmore has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style and type of geothermal play under 
consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the Second Edition 
(2010) of the ‘Australian Code for Reporting Exploration Results, Geothermal Resources and Geothermal Reserves’.  Dr 
Beardsmore has consented in writing to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and 
context in which they appear.

All other information in the Annual Report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Mr Peter 
Reid, who appears on the Register of Practicing Geothermal Professionals maintained by the Australian Geothermal Energy 
Group Incorporated at the date of this report. Mr Reid is a full time employee of the Company.  Mr Reid has sufficient 
experience which is relevant to the style and type of geothermal play under consideration and to the activity which he is 
undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the Second Edition (2010) of the Australian Code for Reporting 
Exploration Results, Geothermal Resources and Geothermal Reserves.  Mr Reid has consented in writing to the inclusion in 
this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.
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Petratherm continued to distinguish itself as a leader in the geothermal sector, achieving important milestones despite a 
challenging and uncertain market and political environment.  International sovereign debt concerns continued to weigh 
on global markets resulting in another challenging year but the Company has been able to continue to navigate a steady 
course that has enabled it to weather those issues while continuing with its planned work program.

The Company’s flagship Paralana geothermal energy project continued to take centre stage as the Company prepared 
for the creation of an underground reservoir.  The project, which remains one of only two active geothermal projects in 
Australia, is amongst the most advanced engineered geothermal projects in the world.

A combination of joint venture funding and additional funds sourced from the equity markets was used to progress the 
Company’s portfolio of projects and work programs.  The highlights of the year, was success of the fracture stimulation and 
flow test undertaken at Paralana in July and October 2011, respectively.

The work undertaken at Paralana enabled an independent geothermal resource assessment to be made resulting in a 
Measured Resource of 41 PJ (thermal) being assessed by expert consultants Hot Dry Rocks Limited.   

In late 2011 the Company announced its new Clean Energy Precinct project which is aimed at facilitating a long term path 
to market and the commercialization of the large geothermal resource at Paralana.

The successful work completed to date reinforces the Company’s leadership position and our shareholders showed their 
support in two capital raisings during the year.   The first, a placement that raised $2.3 million at a price of 12.5 cents in 
July 2011 and the second, in an SPP that raised a further $0.458 million at the same price.   Petratherm is encouraged by 
the level of support it has received from its shareholders and brokers in raising the overall amount of $2.758 million to fund 
ongoing exploration and development of the Company’s projects.

Chairman’s Report



Petratherm 2012 Annual Report  3  

The Gillard government introduced carbon pricing from 1 July 2012 and concurrently established new institutions to 
manage $13 billion in grants and financing for clean energy projects.  The Company is encouraged by these developments 
and is confident that the case for geothermal energy will continue to be supported.

Importantly, the recent changes to the Research and Development Tax Rebate scheme apply from 2011/12 with up to 
45% of eligible expenditure being returned as a cash rebate to companies undertaking projects in the R&D phase of 
development, as is the case for the Paralana project through to the completion of demonstration of flows between the two 
deep wells, estimated at a cost of $26 million.

In the post reporting period the Company announced that it had been successful in its Expression of Interest application 
to the $126 million Emerging Renewables grant program and that it had been invited by the Australian Renewable Energy 
Agency to submit a Project Funding Application to fund up to half (i.e. $13 million) of the next stage of works of the 
Paralana project.

The Company continued to develop its Spanish project portfolio and is continuing to characterize geothermal resources 
across the Canary Islands, notably on the island of Tenerife with the assistance of Spanish government subsidies of up to 
$1 million. Work continues on the Tenerife and GeoMadrid projects with interest shown from potential joint venture 
partners.

The Company’s Board and Management team have worked diligently to deal with the most significant market, political and 
regulatory uncertainty in the Company’s history, and I would like to recognize them for their achievements over this most 
challenging of years.

Chairman, Petratherm Limited 
Derek Carter
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Paralana Engineered Geothermal Project – South Australia (79% interest) 

The Paralana Project is an advanced Engineered Geothermal Systems Project in Joint Venture with Beach Energy Limited 
(21%, with the right to earn up to a 36% interest). Exploration works to date have been successful, with a deep injection 
well to four kilometres depth, optimum operating temperatures for efficient binary power production, an extensive complex 
fracture stimulation achieved to allow the circulation of waters through the hot rock and the discovery of pre-existing over-
pressured fluids in fractures.

The next major stage of works is the drilling of Paralana 3, and further reservoir stimulation works to complete the fluid 
circulation loop.  This will be followed by the installation of a pilot plant of up to 3.5 MWe in size to provide power to the 
neighbouring Beverley Uranium Mine.

Fracture Stimulation – July 2011

In July 2011, fracture stimulation works were completed. Over a five day period, 3.1 million litres of fracturing fluid were 
pumped into the Paralana 2 well at pressures up to 9,000 psi. Initial injection rates were measured at 3 l litres per second, 
but steady improvement occurred over the period principally through the injection of several acid treatments. The reservoir 
rock sequence contains only trace carbonate so it was thought the increased injection rates are principally due to the 
breakdown of casing cement in and around the injection zone. Near the end of the injection period a maximum sustained 
pump rate of 27 litres per second was achieved.

The stimulation produced over 11,000 events detected by the Micro seismic network (Figure 1). The primary aim of the 
fracture stimulation, was to create fractures in the subsurface at least 500 metres from the Paralana 2 well, was achieved 
with stimulated zone extending approximately 900 metres to the northeast and east of the Paralana 2 well and at a depths 
ranging between 3,500 to 4,100 metres.

The fracture network comprises at least 4 main structures, with the principal area of growth, a northeast trending en-
echelon style tensile opening fracture which dips steeply to the northwest. This feature seems to be bounded either side by 
steep north-northeast trending structures.

On completion of the stimulation, the calculated stable wellhead pressure remained at approximately 4000 psi. Hence it 
appears that the stimulated volume is over-pressured and connected into a naturally over-pressured zone. 

Paralana 2 Flow Test

Paralana 2 well flow testing was completed successfully in October 2011. Approximately 1.3 million litres of fluid was 
produced over a seven day period with natural flow rates of up to 6 litres per second. After flowing for seven days, the 
bottom hole flowing fluid temperature at the perforated interval 3679-85 metres was recorded as 171˚C, which is in line 
with expectations. The geothermal brines were analysed to assist the determination of safe management procedures for 
any future scale and/or corrosion issues once in long term production. The flow test confirmed the existence of a natural 
geothermal system at Paralana which may aid future energy recovery from the hot rocks at depth.

The Paralana Project 
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Paralana Geothermal Resource

In November 2011, following the fracture stimulation and flow test operations, an updated Independent Resource 
Statement by Hot Dry Rocks Proprietary Limited was released. The Company has identified an Inferred Resource of 4,900 
petajoules (PJ) and an Indicated Resource of 4,400 PJ, over the depth interval of 3,500 metres to 4,000 metres.  This easily 
provides the energy potential for the Company’s long term ambition of generating 600 megawatts of electric power 
(MWe) into the national electricity market.  In addition, the initial stimulated volume of rock at the Paralana 2 well site 
provides a Measured Resource estimate of 41 PJth, which has the potential to sustain 5.4 MWe of power production for 
around 30 years. A resource summary is presented below for Paralana and the full Statement of Resources is available on 
the Company’s website.

Estimated Recoverable Thermal Energy expressed in Petajoules (PJth)

Depth Interval 
(metres)

Inferred (PJth) Indicated (PJth) Measured (PJth) Total (PJth)

<3,500 2,400 1,100 3,500

3,500 - 4,000 4,900 4,400 41 9,300

4,000 - 4,500 5,900 5,700 12,000

4,500 - 5,000 6,900 6,700 14,000

Total (PJth) 20,000 18,000 41 38,000
 

*Paralana Joint Venture: Petratherm 79%, Beach Energy 21%. 
If remaining staged equity investments are met, Beach Energy may earn up to 36% interest.

Potential Future Significant Grant Support for the Paralana Next Stage of Works

In April 2012, the Company’s formal Expression of Interest for the Paralana next stage of works was accepted and it has 
been invited to submit a Project Funding Application under the $126 million Emerging Renewables Program.  The Company, 
on behalf of the Joint Venture partners, intends to apply for grant monies (nominally $13 million) to fund approximately half 
of the drilling of a Paralana 3 deep well, fracture stimulation of that well and demonstration of flows between the Paralana 
2 and 3 deep wells.

Concurrently, the Company is exploring further avenues to enable it to satisfy its share of Joint Venture funding for the next 
stages of the Paralana project.  It should be noted recent changes (effective for the 2011/12 financial year) to the Research 
and Development (R&D) Tax Incentive now provide for companies with eligible R&D expenditure to receive refundable 
cash tax offsets equivalent to 45% of expenditure.  Based on its 79% equity in the Paralana project, the Company has 
estimated that it may receive up to $7.2m in cash rebates under the R&D Tax Incentive from the next stage of works which 
will nominally occur over a two year period and expend $26 million.

The Company believes, based on its success to date, that the Paralana project represents one of the best opportunities 
to demonstrate economic flows between two engineered geothermal system wells and supply electricity, initially to the 
nearby market of Beverley Uranium Mine.  The Company is therefore confident that it can provide a compelling case for 
grant funding.

Figure 1 - Oblique view of the 

fracture cloud looking down and 

towards the northeast
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Spain (100% interest) 

The Tenerife Project is a conventional geothermal play on the active volcanic Island of Tenerife.  Petratherm currently holds 
four Investigation Permits, covering a total of 391 km2.  The Island has a population of approximately 900,000 inhabitants 
and receives 5 million visitors per year.  There is substantial power demand, which is mostly supplied by imported fuel oil 
which is high-cost and has high-emissions.  The Tenerife market has been defined as 400 megawatts (MW) base load, 
with peak requirements as high as 800 MW.  The chemistry of active fumaroles located in the Teide volcanic cone suggests 
a liquid hydrothermal system exists below the central cone with reservoir temperatures calculated to be about 240˚C. 
Magneto-telluric geophysical survey work has confirmed the presence of a large conductive zone beneath the volcano 
typical of the response recorded by a hydrothermal alteration clay cap.  

During the reporting period the company carried out a second Magneto-telluric (MT) survey with the University of Barcelona 
as an extension to the previous survey to better define the shape of the clay alteration cap on the lower flanks of the 
volcano. The clay cap has formed from hydrothermal alteration and maps the extent of geothermal fluids. This investigation 
identified one site in the vicinity of the town of Vilaflor on the southern lower slopes of the Teide Volcano which potentially 
indicates the presence of a relatively shallow geothermal system starting at approximately 1,500 metres depth. This feature 
will be in filled with further MT work near the end of 2012 to determine if it may be a better drilling target than previously 
identified closer to the summit of the volcano.

This work along with other planned geochemical and geophysical surveys on Tenerife during the 2012/13 period, are 
funded by the collaborative 4-year Geothercan research grant worth a total of AUD$2 million.  The Company is in advanced 
negotiations with a number of potential joint venture parties to fund the deep drill testing for geothermal sources on the 
Island.

Figure 2 - Vilaflor location map

The Tenerife Project
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South Australia (100% interest)

The Clean Energy Precinct (CEP), announced in December 2011, is a multi-faceted project that aims to combine gas, wind, 
solar and geothermal energy to supply base load, low cost, renewable power to meet the growing demands of mining 
developments such as Olympic Dam, Prominent Hill and Carapateena in northern South Australia.  The CEP project location 
has been selected because it is the nearest point to the ‘on grid’ market where there is a ‘convergence’ of all four future 
strategic resources.  This enables a unique offering to the market where the different energy sources can be combined in a 
variety of ways to deliver attractive hybrid products that lower costs - and improve energy security/reliability - of electricity 
supply while reducing carbon dioxide emissions.

The CEP is located just north of the Company’s Paralana geothermal energy joint venture project on the Moolawatana 
pastoral lease (Figure 3), where the Company has secured an exclusive position to develop the CEP project.  Work is 
underway to negotiate an Indigenous Land Use Agreement with the Native Title Holders affected by the CEP project.

In June 2012, the CEP project took an important step towards feasibility with the preliminary assessment of an expected 
commercial wind resource undertaken by expert consultants GL Garrad Hassan Pty Ltd.  Preliminary wind energy production 
estimates indicate there is good potential to develop up to 300 MW of high yielding wind power generation and capacity 
factors for wind power generation are expected to range between 33.2% (good) and 42.8% (excellent).

The Clean Energy Precinct

Figure 3 - Clean Energy Precinct location map
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Your directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Directors

Derek Carter (Chairman), 
Terry Kallis (Managing Director), 
Richard Bonython (Non-Executive Director), 
Richard Hillis (Non-Executive Director), 
Simon O’Loughlin (Non-Executive Director), 
Lewis Owens (Non-Executive Director)

The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows. The directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities

Derek Carter  MSc, FAusIMM (CP), Chairman, Non- Executive Director

Derek Carter has over 40 years experience in exploration and mine geology, including 17 years in management of ASX-
listed exploration and development companies.  He held senior positions in the Shell Group of Companies and Burmine 
Ltd before founding Minotaur in 1993.  He was Managing Director of Minotaur from its inception until early 2010 when 
he became Chairman of that company.  He is a Director of Blackthorn Resources Ltd, Mithril Resources Ltd and Toro 
Energy Ltd, all of which are listed on the ASX and is a Director of the AusIMM. He was Vice President and later President, 
of the South Australian Chamber of Mines and Energy, was a Director of the Australian Gold Council and Chairman 
of the Federal Government’s Minerals Exploration Advisory Group.  He is a member of the South Australian Resources 
Development Board, and the South Australian Minerals and Petroleum Experts Group.

He received AMEC’s Prospector of the Year Award (2003), the AusIMM’s President’s Award (2010) and is a Centenary 
Medalist.

Terry Kallis BE (Elec), MBA, Managing Director

Terry Kallis has more than 30 years experience in the Australian energy sector.  Terry holds degrees in Electrical 
Engineering and a Masters of Business Administration.  He held senior executive positions in ETSA Corporation and was 
instrumental in the development of the National Electricity Market (NEM) and the reforms to ETSA and ElectraNet and 
their privatization.

Prior to joining Petratherm, Terry consulted to the energy sector and developed SA’s first wind farm and first underground 
DC interconnection between South Australia and Victoria.  Terry is Chairman of the Australian Geothermal Energy 
Association (AGEA) and is also a Member of the Council of the South Australian Chamber of Mines & Energy representing 
geothermal and renewables. 

The Directors’ Report



Petratherm 2012 Annual Report  9  

Richard Bonython B Ag Sc, Non-Executive Director

Richard Bonython was a director of Minotaur Gold Ltd for six years, Minotaur Resources Ltd for 5 years and retired as 
chairman of Hindmarsh Resources Ltd following the takeover of that company in early 2006.  He retired as chairman of 
Diamin Resources NL in 1999 having been a director of that company for 15 years.  He was executive director of Pioneer 
Property Group Ltd for over 15 years and has experience of over 40 years in the building, rural and minerals industries.  
He is a director of Mithril Resources Ltd (ASX listed) and Minotaur Exploration (ASX listed), and is a member of the 
Company’s audit committee.

Richard Hillis BSc, ARSM, PhD, FAusIMM, Non-Executive Director

Richard Hillis is CEO of the Deep Exploration Technologies Cooperative Research Centre (DET CRC).  The DET CRC is an 
industry and government funded company established to deliver research programs in mineral exploration technologies.  
Richard graduated BSc (Hons) from Imperial College (London, 1985) and PhD from the University of Edinburgh (1989) and 
was previously Mawson Professor of Geology and Head of the Australian School of Petroleum (University of Adelaide).  
He has published ~200 papers in the areas of petroleum geomechanics and basin tectonics and has consulted extensively 
to, and run short courses for, the petroleum industry on these topics.  Richard is a non-executive director of AuScope, the 
geosciences facility in the National Collaborative Research Infrastructure Scheme. 

Simon O’Loughlin BA (Acc), Non-Executive Director

Simon O’Loughlin is the founding member of O’Loughlins Lawyers, an Adelaide based medium sized specialist commercial 
law firm.  He has obtained extensive experience in the corporate and commercial law fields while practicing in Sydney and 
Adelaide.  Simon also holds accounting qualifications.  More recently, he has been focusing on the resources sector.  He is 
currently chairman of Kibaran Nickel Ltd, Neurodiscovery Ltd, Australia Oriental Minerals Ltd, Goldminex Ltd and a director 
of Aura Energy Ltd, Chesser Resources Ltd and WCP Resources Ltd.  He has comprehensive experience with companies in 
the small industrial and resources sectors.

Simon is a former Chairman of the Taxation Institute of Australia (SA Division) and Save the Children Fund (SA Division).

Lewis Owens MSc, BE(Hons), BA, Non-Executive Director

Lewis Owens is currently the Chairman of SA Water Corporation and Country Arts SA, a Director of Regional Arts 
Australia, member of the City of Marion Audit Committee and Chair of the University of Adelaide Business School 
Advisory Board.  He was previously the CEO and Director of ETSA Utilities, the South Australian electricity distribution 
business.  Prior to that role, he was Chairman of the Essential Services Commission of South Australia, responsible for 
independent regulation of the electricity, gas, water, ports and railway industries.  He has worked in the oil, gas and 
electricity industries, and in various roles within government including as Chief Executive of WorkCover Corporation and 
Funds SA.

Company Secretary

Donald Stephens BA (Acc), FCA, Company Secretary

Donald Stephens is a chartered accountant and corporate advisor with over 25 years experience in the accounting 
industry, including 14 years as a partner of HLB Mann Judd, a firm of chartered accountants.  He is non-executive director 
of Mithril Resources Ltd, Papyrus Australia Ltd and TW Holdings Ltd and currently holds a number of company secretarial 
positions with listed Public Companies including Toro Energy Ltd, Mithril Resources Ltd and Minotaur Exploration Ltd. He 
is a member of the Company’s audit committee.

Directors’ Report
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Interests in the Shares and Options of the Company and Related Bodies Corporate

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of Petratherm Limited were:

Number of Ordinary Shares Number of Options over Ordinary Shares

Derek Carter 1,448,750 600,000

Terry Kallis 270,480 2,250,000

Richard Bonython 1,274,292 450,000

Richard Hillis 302,500 650,000

Simon O’Loughlin 358,333 450,000

Lewis Owens 192,500 450,000

 
Dividends

No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends 
has been made.

 
Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company & Group during the financial year were: 

•	 to	test	hot	rocks,	with	high	temperatures;

•	 establishing	an	economically	viable,	emission	free,	renewable	source	for	power	generation.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year.

 
Operating Results

The consolidated loss of the Group for the financial year after providing for income tax amounted to $1,808,315 [2011: 
$1,996,322].

Directors’ Report
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Operations Overview 

Throughout the year, Petratherm has worked diligently to progress its interests in Australia and overseas with the 
Company achieving significant progress despite a challenging economic environment.  The flagship Paralana geothermal 
energy project was again the main focus of the Company’s attention and expenditure to advance the demonstration of 
flows at Paralana.

With its joint venture partner Beach Energy and government grants, the Paralana project continues to enjoy strong third 
party endorsement

In July 2011, the fracture stimulation of the Paralana 2 well was successfully completed. The primary aim of the fracture 
stimulation, which was to create fractures in the subsurface at least 500 metres from the Paralana 2 well, was achieved 
and the analysis of events measured has shown that the stimulated zone extends approximately 900 metres to the east 
of the Paralana 2 well at a depth of 3,500 to 4,100 metres. 

That fracture stimulation work program saw 3.1 million litres of water injected into the bottom of the Paralana 2 well at 
pressures of up to 9,000 psi over a period of five days.  This created over 7,000 clearly observable events, detected by 
an extensive passive seismic array, and showed that a fracture cloud had extended well beyond the target distance of 
500 metres from the Paralana 2 well.

The fracture cloud created exceeded expectations with dimensions measuring 500 metres in depth, 350 metres in width 
and around 900 metres in length.  Importantly, there is evidence that the fractures connected to existing natural fractures 
in an over-pressured zone encountered during the drilling of the Paralana 2 well.  The successful fracture stimulation 
of the Paralana 2 well not only achieved a key technical milestone for  the project but also a major achievement in the 
history of the Company, confirming that a subsurface reservoir can be created and existing fractures can be enhanced.

In October 2011, a flow test of the Paralana 2 well was successfully undertaken to gain further data on temperature, 
permeability, flow and geochemistry to assist the design of the next stage of work.

The flow test, which produced 1.28 million litres of fluid, was designed to assess the extent of the naturally over-
pressured zone and to collect brine samples for geotechnical analysis.  An understanding of the brine chemistry is critical 
to the management of future production flows and design of the next stage of the project. 

The project has utilised $4.2 million of the $7.0 million of the Federal government Geothermal Drilling Program (GDP) 
grant with the remaining $2.8 million available for the drilling of the Paralana 3 deep well. Following the demonstration 
of flows between the two deep Paralana wells, planned for 2013, the project will be able to draw upon the $62.8 million 
Federal government Renewable Energy Demonstration Program (REDP) grant.

In Tenerife, Petratherm in collaboration with the University of Barcelona, extended the 2009 MT survey in the lower 
flanks of the volcano, in order to explore for a shallow hydrothermal system in a suitable development area. An upwelling 
structure, potentially related to a geothermal convection system, was identified in the area of Vilaflor and further 
geophysical stations will be deployed to better identify the feature.

During the reporting period, the Company invested considerably on exploration and development of its projects.  A total 
of $2,251,000 was spent on exploration, mostly at Paralana, of which $440,000 was funded by the JV partners.  A total 
of $2,758,000 was raised from the equity markets and the Company ended the year with a cash position of $1,315,000.

Directors’ Report
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Risk Management

The Group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also 
opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that the Group’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and 
opportunities identified by the board.

The Group believes that it is crucial for all board members to be a part of this process, and as such the board has not 
established a separate risk management committee.

The board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with 
the risks identified by the board.  These include the following:

•	 board	approval	of	a	strategic	plan,	which	encompasses	the	Group’s	vision,	mission	and	strategy	statements,	designed	
to	meet	stakeholders	needs	and	manage	business	risk;

•	 Implementation	of	board	approved	operating	plans	and	budgets	and	board	monitoring	of	progress	against	 these	
budgets, including the establishment and monitoring of performance indicators of both a financial and non financial 
nature.

Significant Changes In The State Of Affairs

The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group occurred during the financial year:

On 27 July 2011 the Group announced it had completed a $2.289 million capital raise through the placement of 
18,312,000 shares at $0.125 per share. It also announced that all eligible shareholders would be able to participate 
in a Share Purchase Plan. The issue price for each share under the offer would be $0.125. The Group raised a further 
$458,500 from Share Purchase Plan.

Other than the matter noted, there were no other material significant events. 

Directors’ Report
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Significant Events After The Balance Date

On 5 September 2012 the Group announced that it had been invited to submit a Project Funding Application under the 
Australian Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA) $126 million Emerging Renewables Program for the next stage of works 
for the Paralana geothermal JV Project.

On 19 September 2012 the company announced a capital raising by way of one for three pro-rata non-renounceable 
rights issue, with one free attaching option (with the options to be quoted on ASX) being issued for every one new share 
issued. Each attaching option will have an exercise price of $0.03 and an expiry date two years after the date of grant.

Other than those matters noted there were no other material subsequent events.

 
Likely Developments And Expected Results

The Group intends to continue appropriate exploration and evaluation expenditure enabling it to maintain good title 
to all its prospective geothermal properties until decisions can be made to successfully develop and exploit, sell or 
abandon such properties. New projects will be sought and evaluated. Provision of any further information may result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

Environmental Regulation And Performance

The Group is aware of its responsibility to impact as little as possible on the environment, and where there is any 
disturbance, to rehabilitate sites. During the period under review the majority of work carried out was in South Australia 
and the Group followed procedures and pursued objectives in line with guidelines published by the South Australian 
Government. These guidelines are detailed and encompass the impact on owners and land users, heritage, health and 
safety and proper restoration practices. The Group supports this approach and is confident that it properly monitors and 
adheres to these objectives, and any local conditions applicable, both in South Australia and elsewhere. The Company’s 
Spanish operations follow regulations as outlined by Spanish Mining Law, and Petratherm’s internal Health Saftey and 
Environment management system, which is internationally compliant. The Company is in compliance with the state and/
or commonwealth environmental laws for the jurisdictions in which it operates.

Directors’ Report
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Unissued Shares

At the date of this report, the following options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company were on issue.

Issue Date Expiry Date Exercise Price Balance at 1 
July 2011

Net Issued/        
Exercised       

Lapsed/        
Cancelled       

Balance at 30 
June 2012

22/03/2007 21/03/2012 $0.91 20,000 - (20,000) -

30/06/2006 30/04/2012 $0.32 650,000 - (650,000) -

30/06/2006 30/04/2013 $0.37 750,000 - - 750,000

02/01/2007 01/01/2012 $0.53 100,000 - (100,000) -

31/05/2007 31/05/2012 $0.90 40,000 - (40,000) -

31/05/2007 31/05/2012 $0.90 400,000 - (400,000) -

26/06/2007 25/06/2012 $0.97 200,000 - (200,000) -

07/01/2008 06/01/2013 $1.20 30,000 - - 30,000

28/11/2008 27/11/2013 $0.42 150,000 - - 150,000

01/09/2008 31/08/2013 $0.67 15,000 - (15,000) -

07/10/2008 06/10/2013 $0.56 50,000 - - 50,000

30/06/2009 29/06/2014 $0.50 75,000 - (75,000) -

24/11/2009 23/11/2014 $0.50 60,000 - (60,000) -

24/12/2009 23/12/2014 $0.50 550,000 - (200,000) 350,000

04/01/2010 03/01/2015 $0.53 300,000 - - 300,000

05/06/2010 04/01/2015 $0.24 3,100,000 - - 3,100,000

05/06/2010 04/01/2015 $0.29 500,000 - - 500,000

20/04/2010 19/04/2015 $0.38 75,000 - (75,000) -

06/07/2010 05/07/2015 $0.20 1,335,000 - (735,000) 600,000

31/01/2011 30/01/2016 $0.15 1,460,000 - (360,000) 1,100,000

09/01/2012 08/01/2017 $0.14 - 400,000 (50,000) 350,000

03/03/2012 02/03/2017 $0.13 - 500,000 - 500,000

 9,860,000  900,000 (2,980,000) 7,780,000

Share Options

Cancellation of Options

During the financial year 2,980,000 options lapsed due to not being exercised within the given exercise period.

New options issued 

During the financial year 900,000 options were issued under the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) to various 
employees. 

Directors’ Report
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Indemnification And Insurance Of Directors And Officers

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has indemnified (fully insured) each director and the secretary of the 
Company for a premium of $18,820. The liabilities insured include costs and expenses that may be incurred in defending 
civil or criminal proceedings (that may be brought) against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company or a 
related body, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings, 
other than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a willful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use 
by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment 
to the Company.

Remuneration Report  - Audited

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for directors and key management personnel of Petratherm 
Limited. 

Remuneration philosophy 

The board is responsible for determining remuneration policies applicable to directors and senior executives of the Group. 
The broad policy is to ensure that remuneration properly reflects the individuals’ duties and responsibilities and that 
remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people with appropriate skills and experience. At the 
time of determining remuneration consideration is given by the board to the Group’s financial performance.  

Employment contracts

The employment conditions of the Managing Director, Mr Terry Kallis, are formalised in a consultancy agreement. Mr Kallis 
commenced employment on 1 May 2006 and has subsequent signed a consultancy agreement dated 10 January 2012. 
The Company will pay Mr Kallis an annual retainer of $330,000 in equal monthly instalments in arrears. The Company may 
terminate the consultancy agreement by providing three (3) months written notice or making payment in lieu of notice, 
based on the annual salary component. Termination payments are generally not payable on resignation or dismissal for 
serious misconduct. In the instance of serious misconduct the Company can terminate employment at any time.

The employment conditions of the Exploration Manager, Mr Peter Reid, are formalised in a contract of employment. Mr 
Reid commenced employment on 27 July 2004 and his base salary, inclusive of superannuation, is $181,000 per annum. 
The Company may terminate the employment contract by providing three (3) months written notice or making payment 
in lieu of notice, based on the annual salary component. Termination payments are generally not payable on resignation 
or dismissal for serious misconduct. In the instance of serious misconduct the Company can terminate employment at any 
time.

Directors’ Report
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Remuneration Report  - Audited (Continued)

Key management personnel remuneration and equity holdings

The board currently determines the nature and amount of remuneration for board members and senior executives of the 
Group. The policy is to align director and executive objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed 
remuneration component and offering specific long-term incentives.

The non-executive directors and other executives receive a superannuation guarantee contribution required by the 
government, which is currently 9%, and do not receive any other retirement benefits. Some individuals, however, may 
choose to sacrifice part of their salary to increase payments towards superannuation. 

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is expensed as incurred. Executives are also entitled to participate in the 
Group share option scheme. Options are valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. The board policy is to remunerate 
non-executive directors at market rates based on comparable companies for time, commitment and responsibilities. The 
board determines payments to non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, 
duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required.

Voting and comments made at the company’s 2011 Annual General Meeting

Petratherm Ltd received more than 94.96% of ‘yes’ votes on its remuneration report for the 2011 financial year.  The 
company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices.

Use of remuneration consultants

During the financial year there were no remuneration consultants engaged by the Group.

Directors’ Report
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Table 1: Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 & 2012

Short-term 
employee 
benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits

Share based 
payments

Salary & Fees Superannuation Options Total 

Derek Carter 2012 56,000 5,040 - 61,040

2011 55,500 4,995 - 60,495

Terry Kallis 2012 332,112 12,217 25,500 369,829

2011 273,963 23,080 - 297,043

Richard Bonython 2012 42,783 - - 42,783

2011 42,347 - - 42,347

Simon O’Loughlin ** 2012 39,250 3,533 - 42,783

2011 38,850 3,497 - 42,347

Lewis Owens 2012 39,250 3,533 - 42,783

2011 38,850 3,497 - 42,347

Richard Hillis 2012 39,250 3,533 - 42,783

2011 38,850 3,497 - 42,347

* HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Limited has received professional fees for accounting, taxation and secretarial services provided 
during the year amounting to $145,435 (2011: $141,426). Donald Stephens, the company secretary, is a consultant with 
HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Limited.

** O’Loughlins lawyers of which Simon O’Loughlin is a partner received legal fees of $34,955 (2011:$30,779) during the 
year.

Share-based payments remuneration relates to the fair value of options granted during the 2011 & 2012 financial years. 

Directors’ Report



18  Petratherm 2012 Annual Report

Table 2: Remuneration of the named executives who receive the highest remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 
& 2012

Short-term 
employee 
benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits
Share based 
payments

Salary & Fees Superannuation Options Total 

Peter Reid 2012 170,183 15,316 11,200 196,699

 2011 159,420 15,865 56,800 232,085

Jonathan Teubner 2012 - - - -

 2011 73,224 5,663 28,800 107,687

Donald Stephens * 2012 - - - -

 2011 - - - -

* HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Limited has received professional fees for accounting, taxation and secretarial services provided 
during the year amounting to $145,435 (2011: $141,426). Donald Stephens, the company secretary, is a consultant with 
HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Limited.

** O’Loughlins lawyers of which Simon O’Loughlin is a partner received legal fees of $34,955 (2011:$30,779) during the 
year.

Share-based payments remuneration relates to the fair value of options granted during the 2011 & 2012 financial years. 

Table 3: Options granted as part of remuneration

The options issued to directors and executives during the year were as follows:

30 June 2012
Grant 
date

Grant 
number

Vesting 
date

Exercise 
price

Value per option 
at grant date

Exercised 
number

Total Fair 
value

% of 
Remun-
eration

Directors

Terry Kallis 03/03/12 500,000 03/03/12 0.13 0.051 - 25,500 6.90%

Executives

Peter Reid 09/01/12 200,000 09/01/12 0.14 0.056 - 11,200 5.69%

 

30 June 2011
Grant 
date

Grant 
number

Vesting 
date

Exercise 
price

Value per option 
at grant date

Exercised 
number

Total Fair 
value

% of 
Remun-
eration

Executives

Donald Stephens 31/01/11 300,000 31/01/11 0.15 0.056 - 16,800 100%

Peter Reid 06/07/10 400,000 06/07/10 0.20 0.072 - 28,800 24.47%

Peter Reid 31/01/11 500,000 31/01/11 0.15 0.056 - 28,000 24.47%

Jonathan Teubner 06/07/10 400,000 06/07/10 0.20 0.072 - 28,800 26.74%

No portion of remuneration paid or payable to any Key Management Personnel employed by Petratherm was performance 
based in 2011 or 2012.
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Table 4: Options holdings of Key Management Personnel

30 June 2012

Balance at 
beginning 
of period

Granted as 
remuner- 

ation
Options 
exercised

Net change 
other

Balance at end 
of period

Expiry 
date

First 
exercise 

date

Last 
exercise 

date

Directors

Terry Kallis 650,000 - - (650,000) - 30/04/12 01/05/07 30/04/12

Terry Kallis 750,000 - - - 750,000 30/04/13 01/05/08 30/04/13

Terry Kallis 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Terry Kallis - 500,000 500,000 02/03/17 03/03/12 02/03/17

Derek Carter 600,000 - - - 600,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Richard Bonython 450,000 - - - 450,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Lewis Owens 450,000 - - - 450,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Richard Hillis 650,000 - - - 650,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Richard Hillis 200,000 - - (200,000) - 25/06/12 26/06/07 26/06/12

Simon O'Loughlin 450,000 - - - 450,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Executives

Peter Reid 150,000 - - - 150,000 23/12/14 24/12/09 23/12/14

Peter Reid 100,000 - - (100,000) - 01/01/12 01/01/07 01/01/12

Peter Reid 100,000 - - - 100,000 27/11/13 28/11/08 27/11/13

Peter Reid 400,000 - - - 400,000 05/07/15 06/07/10 05/07/15

Peter Reid 500,000 - - - 500,000 30/01/16 31/01/11 30/01/16

Peter Reid - 200,000 - - 200,000 08/01/17 09/01/12 08/01/17

Jonathan Teubner 400,000 - - (400,000) - 31/05/13 01/06/08 31/05/13

Donald Stephens 300,000 - - - 300,000 03/01/15 05/01/10 03/01/15

Donald Stephens 300,000 - - - 300,000 30/01/16 31/01/11 30/01/16

7,450,000 700,000 - (1,350,000) 6,800,000
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Table 4: Options holdings of Key Management Personnel

30 June 2011

Balance at 
beginning 
of period

Granted as 
remuner- 

ation
Options 
exercised

Net change 
other

Balance at end 
of period

Expiry 
date

First 
exercise 

date

Last 
exercise 

date

Directors

Terry Kallis 650,000 - - - 650,000 30/04/12 01/05/07 30/04/12

Terry Kallis 750,000 - - - 750,000 30/04/13 01/05/08 30/04/13

Terry Kallis 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Derek Carter 600,000 - - - 600,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Richard Bonython 450,000 - - - 450,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Lewis Owens 450,000 - - - 450,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Richard Hillis 650,000 - - - 650,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Richard Hillis 200,000 - - - 200,000 25/06/12 26/06/07 26/06/12

Simon O'Loughlin 450,000 - - - 450,000 04/01/15 03/06/10 04/01/15

Executives

Peter Reid 150,000 - - - 150,000 23/12/14 24/12/09 23/12/14

Peter Reid 400,000 - - (400,000) - 21/05/11 22/05/06 21/05/11

Peter Reid 100,000 - - - 100,000 01/01/12 01/01/07 01/01/12

Peter Reid 100,000 - - - 100,000 27/11/13 28/11/08 27/11/13

Peter Reid - 400,000 - - 400,000 05/07/15 06/07/10 05/07/15

Peter Reid - 500,000 - - 500,000 30/01/16 31/01/11 30/01/16

Jonathan Teubner 300,000 - - (300,000) - 23/12/14 24/12/09 23/12/14

Jonathan Teubner 400,000 - - - 400,000 31/05/13 01/06/08 31/05/13

Jonathan Teubner 100,000 - - (100,000) - 27/11/13 28/11/08 27/11/13

Donald Stephens 300,000 - - - 300,000 03/01/15 05/01/10 03/01/15

Donald Stephens - 300,000 - - 300,000 30/01/16 31/01/11 30/01/16

7,050,000 1,200,000 - (800,000) 7,450,000
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Table 5: Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

30 June 2012
Balance at 
1 July 11

On Exercise 
of Options

Net Change 
Other

Balance 
30 June 12

Directors

Terry Kallis 150,480 - 120,000 270,480

Derek Carter 1,328,750 - 120,000 1,448,750

Richard Bonython 1,231,438 - 42,854 1,274,292

Lew Owens 72,500 - 120,000 192,500

Richard Hillis 182,500 - 120,000 302,500

Simon O'Loughlin 358,333 - - 358,333

Executives

Peter Reid - - - -

Donald Stephens - - - -

30 June 2011
Balance a 
 1 July 10

On Exercise 
of Options

Net Change 
Other

Balance 
30 June 11

Directors

Terry Kallis 150,480 - - 150,480

Derek Carter 1,328,750 - - 1,328,750

Richard Bonython 1,231,438 - - 1,231,438

Lew Owens 72,500 - - 72,500

Richard Hillis 182,500 - - 182,500

Simon O'Loughlin 358,333 - - 358,333

Executives

Peter Reid - - - -

Jonathan Teubner - - - -

Donald Stephens - - - -
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Directors’ Meetings

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the number 
of meetings attended by each director was as follows:

Directors' Meetings Audit Committee

Number of meetings held 11 2

Number of meetings attended:

Derek Carter 9  - 

Terry Kallis 11 -

Richard Bonython 10 2

Richard Hillis 10  - 

Simon O'Loughlin 10 2

Lewis Owens 11 -

Members acting on the audit committee of the board are:

Richard Bonython  Non-executive director 
Simon O’Loughlin  Non-executive director 
Donald Stephens  Company secretary
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Proceedings On Behalf Of The Company

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of those 
proceedings.

The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Auditor Independence And Non-Audit Services

Grant Thornton South Australian Partnership, in its capacity as auditor for Petratherm Limited, has not provided any 
non-audit services throughout the year. Details of the auditor’s remuneration can be found in note 23 to the financial 
statements. The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2012 as required under section 307C of 
the Corporations Act 2001 has been received and can be found on the following page. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

Mr Terry Kallis 
Managing Director

Dated this 27th day of September 2012

Directors’ Report
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

To the Directors of Petratherm Ltd 
 
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead 
auditor for the audit of Petratherm Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2012, I declare that, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 
 
 
 

GRANT THORNTON SOUTH AUSTRALIAN PARTNERSHIP 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 
 

J L Humphrey 
Partner 
 
Adelaide, 27 September 2012 
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Introduction

The board of directors is responsible for the corporate governance of Petratherm Ltd (the Company) and its controlled 
entities (the Group). The Group operates in accordance with the corporate governance principles as set out by the ASX 
corporate governance council and required under ASX listing rules.

The Group details below the corporate governance practices in place at the end of the financial year, all of which comply 
with the principles and recommendations of the ASX corporate governance council unless otherwise stated. Some of the 
charters and policies that form the basis of the corporate governance practices of the Group may be located on the Group’s 
website, www.petratherm.com.au.

The ASX Corporate Governance Council has released amendments dated 30 June 2010 to the second edition Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations (Principles and Recommendations) in relation to diversity, remuneration, 
trading policies and briefings. The Group has addressed the amended principles within this statement.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Recommendation 1.1: Role of the Board and Management

The board is accountable to the Shareholders for the performance of the Group and has overall responsibility for its 
operations. Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives, are formally delegated by the board to the Managing Director and ultimately to senior executives.

The key functions reserved to the board include:

•	 Approving	the	strategic	direction	and	related	objectives	of	the	Group	and	monitoring	management	performance	in	the	
achievement	of	these	objectives;

•	 Adopting	budgets	and	monitoring	the	financial	performance	of	the	Group;

•	 Reviewing	 annually	 the	 performance	 of	 the	 managing	 director	 and	 senior	 executives	 against	 the	 objectives	 and	
performance indicators established by the board. The annual review of senior executives was undertaken by the board 
during	the	year;

•	 Overseeing	the	establishment	and	maintenance	of	adequate	internal	controls	and	effective	monitoring	systems;

•	 Overseeing	the	implementation	and	management	of	effective	safety	and	environmental	performance	systems;

•	 Ensuring	all	major	business	risks	are	identified	and	effectively	managed;

•	 Ensuring	that	the	Group	meets	its	legal	and	statutory	obligations.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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For the purposes of the proper performance of their duties, the directors are entitled to seek independent professional 
advice at the Group’s expense, unless the board determines otherwise. The board schedules meetings on a regular basis 
and other meetings as and when required.The Group has not formally established the functions reserved to the board and 
those delegated to senior executives in accordance with recommendations 1.1 and 1.3 of the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council. Given the size of the Group, the board has not considered it necessary to formulate a board charter. 

Recommendation 1.2: Performance evaluation of Senior Management

The Managing Director and senior management participate in annual performance reviews. The performance of staff 
is measured against the objectives and performance indicators established by the board. A performance evaluation for 
senior management took place for the current reporting period in accordance with the Group’s documented process. 
The performance of senior management is reviewed by comparing performance against agreed measures, examining 
the effectiveness and results of their contribution and identifying area for potential improvement.  In accordance with 
recommendations 1.2 and 1.3 of the ASX Corporate Governance Council the Group has not disclosed a description of the 
performance evaluation process in addition to the disclosure above.

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value 

Size and composition of the Board

At the date of this statement the board consists of five non executive directors and one executive. Directors are expected 
to bring independent views and judgement to the board’s deliberations.

•	 Mr	Derek	Carter	 	 Non-Executive	Chairman	

•	 Mr	Terry	Kallis	 	 Managing	Director

•	 Mr	Simon	O’Loughlin	 	 Non-Executive

•	 Mr	Richard	Bonython	 	 Non-Executive

•	 Dr	Richard	Hillis	 	 Non-Executive

•	 Mr	Lewis	Owens	 	 Non-Executive

•	 Mr	Donald	Stephens	 	 Company	Secretary

The board considers this to be an appropriate composition given the size and development of the Group at the present 
time. A profile of each director including their skills, qualifications and experience is set out in the director’s report of this 
Annual Report.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Recommendation 2.1: Independence

The board is conscious of the need for independence and ensures that where a conflict of interest may arise, the relevant 
director(s) leave the meeting to ensure a full and frank discussion of the matter(s) under consideration by the rest of the 
board. Those directors who have interests in specific transactions or potential transactions do not receive board papers 
related to those transactions or potential transactions, do not participate in any part of a directors’ meeting which considers 
those transactions or potential transactions, are not involved in the decision making process in respect of those transactions 
or potential transactions, and are asked not to discuss those transactions or potential transactions with other directors. Each 
director is required by the Company to declare on an annual basis the details of any financial or other relevant interests that 
they may have in the Company.

At the date of this statement the board consists of five non executive directors, Mr Carter, who is also chairman of the 
board, Mr O’Loughlin, Mr Bonython, Mr Hillis, Mr Owens and an executive director, Mr Kallis. Mr O’Loughlin, Mr Hillis and 
Mr Owens have no other material relationship with the Group or its subsidiary other than their directorships. Mr Carter and 
Mr Bonython are directors of Minotaur Exploration Ltd which is the beneficial holder of 15.27% of the issued capital of 
Petratherm Ltd. The Group therefore has three independent directors as that relationship is currently defined.  

The board does not consist of a majority of independent directors and therefore the Group has not complied with 
recommendation 2.1 of the Corporate Governance Council. The board defines ‘independence’ in accordance with ASX 
recommendations. The board considers the current structure to be an appropriate composition of the required skills and 
experience, given the experience of the individual directors and the size and development of the Group at the present time.  

Recommendations 2.2, 2.3: Role of the Chairman

The role of the Chairman is to provide leadership to the board and facilitate the efficient organisation and conduct of the 
board’s functioning. Mr Derek Carter, the Chairman of the Group does not also perform the role of the Managing Director, 
in accordance with recommendation 2.3 of the Corporate Governance Council, however the Chairman is not considered 
‘independent’ as defined by ASX Corporate Governance Principles and recommendation 2.2.

Recommendation 2.4: Nomination, retirement and appointment of Directors 

The board has not established a nomination and remuneration committee in accordance with recommendation 2.4 of 
the Corporate Governance Council. The board takes ultimate responsibility for these matters and continues to monitor 
the composition of the committee and the roles and responsibilities of the members. Accordingly, the Group has not 
established a remuneration and nomination committee charter in accordance with recommendations 2.4 and 2.6 of the 
ASX Corporate Governance Council.

Recommendation 2.5: Evaluation of Board performance

The board continues to review performance against appropriate measures and identify ways to improve performance. A 
performance evaluation of the board, its Committees and individual directors took place for the current reporting period 
in accordance with the Group’s documented process. The board has not formally disclosed the process in accordance with 
recommendations 2.5 and 2.6 of the ASX Corporate Governance Council. The Board takes ultimate responsibility for these 
matters and does not consider the disclosure of the performance evaluation necessary at this stage.

Corporate Governance Statement



28  Petratherm 2012 Annual Report

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

Recommendation 3.1: Code of Conduct

The board recognises the need for directors and employees to observe the highest standards of behaviour and business 
ethics when engaging in corporate activity. The Group intends to maintain a reputation for integrity and is highly committed 
to demonstrating appropriate corporate practices and decision making. The Group’s officers and employees are required 
to act in accordance with the law and with the highest ethical standards. The board has not adopted and disclosed a 
formal code of conduct applying to the board and all Employees in accordance with recommendations 3.1 and 3.3 of 
the Corporate Governance Council. The Board takes ultimate responsibility for these matters and does not consider the 
disclosure of the code necessary at this stage.

Securities Trading Policy

Effective from 1 January 2011, the Group is required to adopt and disclose a securities trading policy under ASX Listing 
Rules. A securities trading policy was previously a recommendation of the Corporate Governance Council, however the 

Group has chosen to early-adopt the amendments in accordance with the addition to the ASX Listing Rules. The Group has 
established a policy concerning trading in Group securities by directors, senior executives and employees, however the plan 
has not yet been publicly disclosed and therefore has not complied with recommendation 3.2 or 3.3 of the second edition 
of the Corporate Governance Council principles. The Board takes ultimate responsibility for these matters.

The Company’s constitution permits designated persons to acquire securities in the Company, however Group policy 
prohibits designated persons from dealing in the Company’s securities at any time whilst in possession of price sensitive 
information and for 24 hours after:

•	 Any	major	announcements;

•	 The	release	of	the	Group’s	quarterly,	half	yearly	and	annual	financial	results	to	the	Australian	Securities	Exchange;	and	

•	 The	Annual	General	Meeting.

Directors must advise the Chairman of the Board before buying or selling securities in the Group. All such transactions are 
reported to the Board. In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules of the Australian 
Securities Exchange, the Company advises ASX of any transaction conducted by directors in the securities of the Company.

Corporate Governance Statement



Petratherm 2012 Annual Report  29  

Recommendations 3.2, 3.3, 3.4: Diversity

The ASX Corporate Governance Council has released amendments dated 30 June 2010 to the second edition Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations (Principles and Recommendations) in relation to diversity. The Group is 
committed to supporting diversity, including consideration of gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background. The board 
is ultimately responsible for reviewing the achievement of this policy. The Group recognises that through consideration of 
diversity and the best available talent, it will assist in promoting a working environment to maximise achievement of the 
corporate goals of the organisation.

The Group continues to strive towards achieving objectives established towards increasing gender diversity. At the end of 
the reporting period, the Group employed ten staff, of which five were female and the board of directors consisted of six 
male members.

The Group is highly aware of the positive impacts that diversity may bring to an organisation. The Group continues to assess 
all staff and board appointments on their merits with consideration to diversity a driver in decision making. The Group has 
not yet developed or disclosed a formal diversity and policy and therefore has not complied with the recommendations 3.2 
and 3.3 of the Corporate Governance Council effective from 1 January 2011. 

Corporate Governance Statement
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Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

The Group has structured financial management to independently verify and safeguard the integrity of their financial 
reporting. The structure established by the Group includes:

•	 Review	and	consideration	of	the	financial	statements	by	the	audit	committee;	and	

•	 A	process	to	ensure	the	independence	and	competence	of	the	Group’s	external	auditors.

Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 4.3: Audit Committee

The audit, risk and compliance committee comprises Mr O’Loughlin (Audit Committee Chairman) who is also a non-
executive director, Mr Richard Bonython a non-executive director and Mr Donald Stephens the Company Secretary. Mr 
O’Loughlin and Mr Stephens are both considered independent thereby does not representing a majority. The board will 
annually confirm the membership of the committee.

The committee’s primary responsibilities are to:

•	 oversee	the	existence	and	maintenance	of	internal	controls	and	accounting	systems;

•	 oversee	the	management	of	risk	within	the	Group;

•	 oversee	the	financial	reporting	process;

•	 review	the	annual	and	half-year	financial	reports	and	recommend	them	for	approval	by	the	board	of	directors;

•	 nominate	external	auditors;

•	 review	the	performance	of	the	external	auditors	and	existing	audit	arrangements;	and

•	 ensure	compliance	with	laws,	regulations	and	other	statutory	or	professional	requirements,	and	the	Group’s	governance	
policies.

The Group does not comply with recommendation 4.2 of the Corporate Governance Council because the majority does 
not consist of independents. Given the skills and experience of the audit committee, the board believes the structure and 
process to be adequate. The board continues to monitor the composition of the committee and the roles and responsibilities 
of the members.

The board has not adopted and disclosed a formal committee charter in accordance with recommendations 4.3 and 4.4 
of the Corporate Governance Council. 

Corporate Governance Statement
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Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 

The Group has a policy that all shareholders and investors have equal access to the Group’s information.  The board ensures 
that all price sensitive information is disclosed to the ASX in accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the 
Corporation’s Act and ASX Listing Rules.  The Company Secretary has primary responsibility for all communications with 
the ASX and is accountable to the board through the Chair for all governance matters.

Recommendations 5.1: Disclosure policy

The Group has not publicly disclosed a formal disclosure policy in accordance with recommendations 5.1 and 5.2 of the 
Corporate Governance Council. The board takes ultimate responsibility for these matters and does not consider disclosure 
of a disclosure policy to be appropriate at this stage.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders 

The board strives to ensure that Shareholders are provided with sufficient information to assess the performance of the 
Group and its directors and to make well-informed investment decisions.

Recommendations 6.1: Communications policy

Information is communicated to Shareholders through:

•	 annual,	half-yearly	and	quarterly	financial	reports;

•	 annual	and	other	general	meetings	convened	for	Shareholder	review	and	approval	of	board	proposals;

•	 continuous	disclosure	of	material	changes	to	ASX	for	open	access	to	the	public;	and

•	 the	Group	maintains	a	website	where	all	ASX	announcements,	notices	and	financial	reports	are	published	as	soon	as	
possible after release to ASX.

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the Group’s web site www.petratherm.com.au.

The auditor is invited to attend the annual general meeting of Shareholders. The Chairman will permit Shareholders to ask 
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.

The Group has not publicly disclosed a communications policy in accordance with recommendations 6.1 and 6.2 of the 
Corporate Governance Council. The board takes ultimate responsibility for these matters and does not consider disclosure 
of a communications policy to be appropriate at this stage.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

The board has identified the significant areas of potential business and legal risk of the Group. In addition the board has 
developed the culture, processes and structures of the company to encourage a framework of risk management which 
indentifies, monitors and manages the material risks facing the organisation.

Recommendations 7.1, 7.2: Risk management policy

The identification, monitoring and, where appropriate, the reduction of significant risk to the Group is the responsibility 
of the Managing Director and the board. The board has also established the audit, risk and compliance committee which 
addresses the risks of the Group.

The board reviews and monitors the parameters under which such risks will be managed. Management accounts are 
prepared and reviewed with the Managing Director at subsequent board meetings. Budgets are prepared and compared 
against actual results.

Management and the board monitor the Group’s material business risks and reports are considered at regular meetings.

The Group has not publicly disclosed a policy for the oversight and management of material business risks in accordance 
with recommendations 7.1 and 7.4 of the Corporate Governance Council. The board takes ultimate responsibility for these 
matters and does not consider disclosure of a risk management policy to be appropriate at this stage.

Recommendations 7.3: Declaration from Managing Director and Company Secretary

The Managing Director and the Company Secretary will be required to state in writing to the board that the Group’s 
financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Group’s financial condition and operational 
results are in accordance with relevant accounting standards. Included in this statement will be confirmation that the 
Group’s risk management and internal controls are operating efficiently and effectively.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The Chairman and the non-executive directors are entitled to draw director’s fees and receive reimbursement of reasonable 
expenses for attendance at meetings. The Group is required to disclose in its annual report details of remuneration to 
directors. The maximum aggregate annual remuneration which may be paid to non-executive directors is $300,000. 
This amount cannot be increased without the approval of the Group’s shareholders. Please refer to the remuneration 
report within the director’s report for details regarding the remuneration structure of the managing director and senior 
management.

Recommendation 8.1: Remuneration Committee

The board has not established a remuneration committee or disclosed a committee charter on the Company website and 
therefore has not complied with recommendations 8.1 and 8.3 of the Corporate Governance Council.  The board takes 
ultimate responsibility for these matters and does not consider a remuneration committee to be appropriate at this stage.

Corporate Governance Statement
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For The Year Ended 30 June 2012

Consolidated

 
Note

2012 
$

2011 
$

Revenue 4 (a) 121,932 111,151 

Impairment of non-current assets 4 (b) (449,511) (3,267)

Employee benefits expense 4 (c) (722,294) (1,096,545)

Depreciation expense 4 (b) (35,124) (58,818)

Borrowing costs 4 (b) -   (697)

Other expenses 4 (d) (886,980) (910,183)

Loss before income tax expense (1,971,977) (1,958,359)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5 163,662 (37,963)

Loss for the period (1,808,315) (1,996,322)

Other comprehensive income   

Exchange differences arising on translation 
of foreign operations

(219,327) (148,660)

Total comprehensive income for the year (2,027,642) (2,144,982)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:  

Non-controlling interest 20  -   -   

Loss attributable to members of the parent entity (2,027,642) (2,144,982)

Earnings per share: Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 6 (1.24) (1.67)

Diluted earnings per share 6 (1.24) (1.67)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income



34  Petratherm 2012 Annual Report

As At 30 June 2012
Consolidated

 
Note

2012 
$

2011 
$

CURRENT ASSETS  

Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,314,578 1,928,996

Trade and other receivables 8 59,975 121,333

Other current assets 9 43,618 66,058

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,418,171 2,116,387

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  

Property, plant and equipment 10 83,977 142,920

Exploration and evaluation assets 11 18,583,124 17,804,547

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 18,667,101 17,947,467

TOTAL ASSETS 20,085,272 20,063,854

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables 13 156,098 603,490

Borrowings 14 - 7,163

Short term provisions 15 44,090 138,915

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 200,188 749,568

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Borrowings 14 - 19,735

Long term provisions 15 8,624 38,664

Other 16 2,898,000 2,898,000

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,906,624 2,956,399

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,106,812 3,705,967

NET ASSETS 16,978,460 16,357,887

EQUITY  

Issued capital 17 31,450,493 28,850,178

Reserves 18 (211,414) 507,093

Retained earnings 19 (14,260,619) (12,999,384)

Parent interests 16,978,460 16,357,887

Non-controlling interests 20 - -

TOTAL EQUITY 16,978,460 16,357,887

Statement of 
Financial Position

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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For The Year Ended 30 June 2012

Consolidated

Issued  
Capital 

Ordinary 
$ 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 

Share  
Option 
Reserve 

$ 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

$ 

Minority 
Interest 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2010 27,434,758 (11,199,342) 1,217,180 (563,413) - 16,889,183

Total comprehensive income for 
the year - (1,996,322) - - - (1,996,322)

Shares issued via placement 1,504,000 - - - - 1,504,000

Issue of share options - - 198,266 - - 198,266

Transaction costs (126,542) - - - - (126,542)

Transfer to retained earnings from 
share option reserve (28,800) 28,800 -

Tax portion of capital raising costs 37,963 - - - - 37,963

Transfer from employee equity-
settled benefits reserve upon 
cancellation of vested options - 225,080 (225,080) - - -

Foreign exchange translations - - - (148,660) - (148,660)

Balance at 30 June 2011 28,850,178 (12,999,384) 1,219,166 (712,073) - 16,357,887

Balance at 1 July 2011 28,850,178 (12,999,384) 1,219,166 (712,073) - 16,357,887

Total comprehensive income for 
the year - (1,808,315) - - - (1,808,315)

Shares issued via share purchase 
plan 458,500 - - - - 458,500

Shares issued via placement 2,289,000 - - - - 2,289,000

Issue of share options - - 47,900 - - 47,900

Transaction costs (210,264) - - - - (210,264)

Tax portion of capitial raising 
costs 63,079 - - - - 63,079

Transfer from employee equity-
settled benefits reserve upon 
cancellation of vested options - 547,080 (547,080) - - -

Foreign exchange translations - - - (219,327) - (219,327)

Balance at 30 June 2012 31,450,493 (14,260,619) 719,986 (931,400) - 16,978,460

Statement of 
Changes in Equity

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements



36  Petratherm 2012 Annual Report

Statement of 
Cashflows

For The Year Ended 30 June 2012

Consolidated

 
Note

2012 
$

2011 
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,666,505) (1,753,282)

Finance Costs - (697)

Research & Development Tax offset received 226,741 -

Management Fee 5,205 5,660

Interest received 120,310 103,738

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7 (1,314,249) (1,644,581)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,797) (5,231)

Joint Venture receipts 449,246 4,486,337

Payments for exploration activities (2,257,956) (4,996,498)

NET CASH PROVIDED/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,810,507) (515,392)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from issue of shares 2,747,500 1,504,000

Transaction costs of issue of shares (210,264) (125,196)

Repayment of borrowings (26,898) (6,585)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,510,338 1,372,219

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (614,418) (787,754)

Cash at the beginning of the year 7 1,928,996 2,716,750

CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,314,578 1,928,996

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

The financial report of Petratherm Limited (the Company) for the year ended 30 June 2012 was authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 27 September 2012. Petratherm Limited is a Company limited by shares 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report.

 
2. Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies

This financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Petratherm Limited and controlled entities 
(‘Group’).

Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards board and the Corporations Act 2001. Petratherm Ltd is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a financial report 
containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to which they apply. Compliance with 
Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are presented below. 
They have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis and is based on historical costs, modified, where applicable by 
the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.

Two comparative periods are presented for the statement of financial position when the Company:

i		 	Applies	an	accounting	policy	retrospectively;

ii		Makes	a	retrospective	restatement	of	items	in	its	financial	statements;	or

iii Reclassifies items in the financial statements.

We have determined that only one comparative period for the statement of financial position was required for the current 
reporting period as the application of the new accounting  standards have had no material impact on the previously 
presented primary financial statements that were presented in the prior year financial statements. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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 a. Principles of consolidation

 A controlled entity is any entity Petratherm Limited has the power to control the financial and operating policies of so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities.  A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 24 to the financial statements.

 The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and 
transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra Group transactions have been eliminated 
in full.

 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

b. Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

 Interest income

 Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.  

 Sale of Goods

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and the cessation of all involvement in those goods. 

 Provision of services

 Revenue relating to the provision of services is determined with reference to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at reporting date and where the outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably. Stage of completion is determined 
with reference to the services performed to date as a percentage of total anticipated services to be performed.  
Where the outcome cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that related expenditure is 
recoverable. All revenue is stated net of goods and services tax. 

c. Government grants

 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching 
conditions will be complied with.

 When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on 
a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

 When the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the 
statement of comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

d. Finance costs

 Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time 
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use of sale. Other costs are expensed as incurred.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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e. Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and cash in hand and short 
term deposits with an original maturity of six months or less.

 For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above.

f. Trade and other receivables

 Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an 
allowance for any uncollectible amounts.

 An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the 
debts. Bad debts are written off when identified.

g. Financial instruments

	 Initial	recognition	and	measurement

 Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Trade date accounting is adopted for financial assets that are 
delivered within timeframes established by marketplace convention.

 Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument is not classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss.  Transaction costs related to instrument classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out below.

 Effective interest rate method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial assets, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

 Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets ‘at fair 
value through profit or loss’.

	 Classification	and	subsequent	measurement

 Loans and receivables  

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 Financial liabilities 

 Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.  

 Fair value 

 Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied 
to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar 
instruments and option pricing models.

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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 Impairment of financial assets

 At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been 
impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the value of the 
instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

 The carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment loss 
through the use of an allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

 With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is 
recognised directly in the financial assets reserve in other comprehensive income.

 Derecognition 

 Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is transferred 
to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits 
associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, 
cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is 
recognised in profit or loss.

h. Income tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date.

 Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

•	when	the	deferred	income	tax	liability	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	goodwill	or	of	an	asset	or	liability	in	a	
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;	or

•	when	the	taxable	temporary	difference	is	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	associates	or	interests	in	joint	
ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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•	when	the	deferred	income	tax	asset	relating	to	the	deductible	temporary	difference	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither	the	accounting	profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;	or

•	when	the	deductible	temporary	difference	is	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	associates	or	interests	in	
joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilised.

 Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance date.

 Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority.

 Tax consolidation

 Petratherm Limited and its wholly owned Australian controlled entity have not yet decided to implement the tax 
consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2007. The Australian Taxation Office has not yet been notified of any decision.

 If the Group were to implement the tax consolidation legislation in the current or future reporting period, the consequence 
would be that Petratherm Limited, as the head entity in the tax consolidated group, recognises current and deferred tax 
amounts relating to transactions, events and balances of the wholly owned Australian controlled entity in the group as 
if those transactions, events and balances were its own, in addition to the current and deferred tax amounts arising in 
relation to its own transactions, events and balances. Amounts receivable or payable under an accounting tax sharing 
agreement with the tax consolidated entities are recognised separately as tax related amounts receivable or payable. 
Expenses and revenues arising under the tax sharing agreement are recognised as a component of income tax expense 
(revenue). The deferred tax balances recognised by the parent entity in relation to wholly owned entity joining the tax 
consolidated group are measured based on their carrying amounts at the level of the tax consolidated group before the 
implementation of the tax consolidation regime.

 There will be no impact of the legislation on the Group’s historical carrying amounts of its deferred tax assets, as these 
have not been recognised in the parent or Group’s financial statements. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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i. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

•	when	the	GST	incurred	on	a	purchase	of	goods	and	services	is	not	recoverable	from	the	taxation	authority,	in	which	
case	the	GST	is	recognised	as	part	of	the	cost	of	acquisition	of	the	asset	or	as	part	of	the	expense	item	as	applicable;	
and

•	 receivables	and	payables,	which	are	stated	with	the	amount	of	GST	included.

 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position.

 Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as 
operating cash flows.

 Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority.

j. Property, plant and equipment

 Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. 
Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and 
equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation.

 Depreciation is calculated on a reducing balance basis on all plant and equipment.

 Major depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are:

 Plant and equipment 10 – 50%.

 Impairment

 The carrying values of plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with recoverable amount 
being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

 The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset’s value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value.

 An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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k. Impairment of assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use 
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair 
value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit 
is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment 
losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease).

 An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

l. Exploration expenditure

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These 
costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development 
of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves.

 Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision 
to abandon the area is made.

 A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward 
costs in relation to that area of interest.

 Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are included 
in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and 
building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of the mining permits. Such 
costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on a discounted 
basis.

 Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of site 
restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to the basis that the restoration 
will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.
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m. Trade and other payables

 Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make 
future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

n. Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

 If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pretax rate that reflects 
the risks specific to the liability.

o. Leases

 The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

 Group as a lessee

 Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

 Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term 
if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Operating lease 
payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

p. Employee benefits

 Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected 
to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ services up 
to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities 
for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

 Long service leave

 The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present 
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date 
using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.
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 Share-based payment transactions

 The Group provides benefits to employees of the Group in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees 
receive options incentives (equity-settled transactions).

 There is currently one plan in place to provide these benefits, the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) which provides 
benefits to employees.

 The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

 The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income, together 
with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve, when the options are issued.

 Upon the exercise of options, the balance of share based payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to 
share capital.

q. Issued Capital

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

r. Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs 
of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

 In accordance with AASB 133 ‘Earnings per Share’, as potential ordinary shares may only result in a situation where their 
conversion results in an increase in loss per share or decrease in profit per share from continuing operations, no dilutive 
effect has been taken into account in 2011 and 2012.

s. Foreign Currency Translation

 Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the Financial Statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Petratherm Group’s functional and presentational currency.

 Transactions and balances

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at period end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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 Group companies

 The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows:

•	assets	and	liabilities	for	each	statement	of	financial	position	presented	are	translated	at	the	closing	rate	at	the	date	of	
that	statement	of	financial	position;

•	 income	and	expenses	for	each	statement	of	comprehensive	income	are	translated	at	average	exchange	rates	(unless	
this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which	case	income	and	expenses	are	translated	at	the	date	of	the	transactions);	and

•	all	resulting	exchange	differences	are	recognised	as	a	separate	component	of	equity.	

t. Joint Venture

 A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control. A jointly controlled operation involves use of assets and other resources of the venturers rather than 
establishment of a separate entity. The Group recognises its interest in the jointly controlled operations by recognising 
the assets that it controls and the liabilities that it incurs. The Group also recognises the expenses that it incurs and its 
share of the income that it earns from the sale of goods or services by the jointly controlled operation. The Group has 
entered into a number of Joint Ventures with various parties to explore certain tenements that the Group has beneficial 
interest in. A full list of these JV’s, as well as the parties involved, can be found in note 28.

u. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

 The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical knowledge 
and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group.

 Key Estimates — Exploration and evaluation

 The Group’s policy for exploration and evaluation is discussed in note 2(l).  The application of this policy requires 
management to make certain assumptions as to future events and circumstances.  Any such estimates and assumptions 
may change as new information becomes available.  If, after having capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure, 
management concludes that the capitalised expenditure is unlikely to be recovered by future sale or exploration, then 
the relevant capitalised amount will be written off through the statement of comprehensive income. Refer to note 11 
for further details and a reconciliation of the capitised expenditure written off during the year.

v. New and Revised Accounting Standards

 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group.

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to 
existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

 Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies for 
the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.  Information on new standards, amendments 
and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements is provided below.

 Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.
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 AASB 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2013) 

 The AASB aims to replace AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its entirety.  The replacement 
standard (AASB 9) is being issued in phases. To date, the chapters dealing with recognition, classification, measurement 
and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities have been issued. These chapters are effective for annual periods 
beginning 1 January 2013. Further chapters dealing with impairment methodology and hedge accounting are still being 
developed.

 Management have yet to assess the impact that this amendment is likely to have on the financial statements of the 
Group. However, they do not expect to implement the amendments until all chapters of AASB 9 have been published 
and they can comprehensively assess the impact of all changes.

 Consolidation Standards

 A package of consolidation standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Information 
on these new standards is presented below. The Group’s management have yet to assess the impact of these new and 
revised standards on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (AASB 10)

 AASB 10 supersedes the consolidation requirements in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(AASB 127) and Interpretation 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.  It revised the definition of control together 
with accompanying guidance to identify an interest in a subsidiary. However, the requirements and mechanics of 
consolidation and the accounting for any non-controlling interests and changes in control remain the same.

 AASB 11 Joint Arrangements (AASB 11)

 AASB 11 supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures (AASB 131). It aligns more closely the accounting by the 
investors with their rights and obligations relating to the joint arrangement. It introduces two accounting categories 
(joint operations and joint ventures) whose applicability is determined based on the substance of the joint arrangement. 
In addition, AASB 131’s option of using proportionate consolidation for joint ventures has been eliminated. AASB 11 
now requires the use of the equity accounting method for joint ventures, which is currently used for investments in 
associates.

 AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (AASB 12)

 AASB 12 integrates and makes consistent the disclosure requirements for various types of investments, including 
unconsolidated structured entities. It introduces new disclosure requirements about the risks to which an entity is 
exposed from its involvement with structured entities.

 Consequential amendments to AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements (AASB 127) and AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures (AASB 128)

 AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements was amended to AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements 
which now deals only with separate financial statements. AASB 128 brings investments in joint ventures into its scope. 
However, AASB 128’s equity accounting methodology remains unchanged.

 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (AASB 13)

 AASB 13 does not affect which items are required to be fair-valued, but clarifies the definition of fair value and provides 
related guidance and enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements. It is applicable for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013. The Group’s management have yet to assess the impact of this new standard.
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 AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 
s (AASB 101 Amendments)

 The AASB 101 Amendments require an entity to group items presented in other comprehensive income into those 
that, in accordance with other IFRSs: (a) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) will be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. It is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
July 2012. The Group’s management expects this will change the current presentation of items in other comprehensive 
income;	however,	it	will	not	affect	the	measurement	or	recognition	of	such	items.

 AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel 
Disclosure Requirements (AASB 124 Amendments)

 AASB 2011-4 makes amendments to AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures to remove individual key management 
personnel disclosure requirements, to achieve consistency with the international equivalent (which includes requirements 
to disclose aggregate (rather than individual) amounts of KMP compensation), and remove duplication with the 
Corporations Act 2001. The amendments are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013. The 
Group’s management have yet to assess the impact of these amendments.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements



Petratherm 2012 Annual Report  49  

3. Operating Segments

The Group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 8 with effect from 1 July 2009. AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of 
internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the board in order to allocate resources to 
the segments and to assess its performance. 

Segment information reported externally was analysed on the basis of the business segments encountered by Petratherm 
(namely Exploration in both Australia and Spain). However, information reported to the Company’s Managing Director for 
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of performance is more specifically focused on the areas in which the 
Group is exploring in Australia and Spain, as well as the Company’s Paralana Project. The Group’s reportable segments 
under AASB 8 are therefore as follows:

•	 Exploration	activities	-	Paralana	Project

•	 Exploration	activities	-	Australia	(Other);and

•	 Exploration	activities	–	Spain.

Information regarding these segments is presented below. The accounting policies of the new reportable segments are the 
same as the Group’s accounting policies.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable operating segment for the periods under 
review.

Segment Revenue 
Year ended

Segment Result 
Year ended

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Continuing Operations 2012 2011

Paralana Project           5,205            5,660               -                 -   

Australia (Other)                -                   -        (341,710)         (3,267)

Spain                -                   -        (107,801)               -   

          5,205            5,660      (449,512)         (3,267)

Administration/Corporate       116,727         105,491   (1,487,342)   (1,895,577)

Finance Costs                -                   -                 -              (697)

Depreciation                -                   -         (35,124)       (58,818)

Consolidated revenue       121,932         111,151   

Profit/(Loss) before income tax   (1,971,977)   (1,958,359)

Income tax benefit/(expense)       163,662       (37,963)

Profit/(Loss) for year   (1,808,315)   (1,996,322)
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The revenue reported above represents revenue generated from financial institutions and joint venture management fees. 
There were no intersegment sales during the period.

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss) earned by each segment without allocation of central administration costs, 
depreciation and income tax (expense)/benefit. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the 
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance. 

Segment Assets and Liabilities

Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to the segment that receives the majority of 
economic value from the asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly identifiable on the basis of their 
nature and physical location. The Group has not reported on segment liabilities as such amounts are not regularly provided 
to the chief operating decision marker. The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable operating segment.

Opening 
Balance 

1/07/2011 
$ 

Exploration 
Expenditure

 $ 
Impairment 

$

Closing 
Balance 

30/06/2012 
$

Paralana Project   15,231,226       1,019,237                 -       16,250,463 

Australia (ex Paralana)       133,188          208,522       (341,710)                  -   

Spain    2,440,134                328       (107,801)       2,332,661 

Total segment assets   17,804,548       1,228,087       (449,511)     18,583,124 

Other  

Administration/Corporate (i)    2,259,306       1,502,148 

  20,063,854     20,085,272 

Opening 
Balance 

1/07/2010 
$ 

Exploration 
Expenditure

 $ 
Impairment 

$

Closing 
Balance 

30/06/2011 
$

Australia (ex Paralana) 15,008,936 222,290 -   15,231,226 

Paralana Project 125,755 10,700 (3,267) 133,188 

Spain 2,548,575 (108,441) -   2,440,134 

Total segment assets 17,683,266 124,549 (3,267) 17,804,548 

Other  

Administration/Corporate (i) 4,615,478 2,259,306 

22,298,744 20,063,854 

(i) Administration assets largely relate to unallocated cash assets.
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4. Revenue and Expenses

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

(a) Revenue and other income

Bank interest received or receivable 116,483 105,491

Other income 244 -

Management Fees 5,205 5,660

121,932 111,151

(b) Expenses

Impairment of non-current assets

Capitalised tenement costs written off 449,511 3,267

Total impairment of non-current assets 449,511 3,267

Depreciation of non-current assets

Plant and equipment 35,124 58,818

Total depreciation 35,124 58,818

Borrowing Costs

Hire-Purchase Interest - 697

Total borrowing costs - 697

(c) Employees benefits expense

Wages, salaries, directors fees and other remuneration expenses 735,943 847,340

Superannuation 63,316 80,281

Transfer to/(from) annual leave provision (64,702) (9,669)

Transfer to/(from) long service leave provision (60,163) (19,673)

Share-based payments expense 47,900 198,266

722,294 1,096,545

(d) Other expenses from ordinary activities

Secretarial, professional and consultancy 150,320 144,269

Travel expenses 61,172 99,851

Promotion and advertising 21,623 21,925

Occupancy costs 165,507 119,722

Share register maintenance 35,978 28,929

Insurance costs 35,787 40,886

Conference & seminars 47,431 68,387

Entertainment 19,766 14,306

AGM expenses 44,160 45,577

Audit fees 28,750 31,600

Listing fees 20,675 21,699

Subscriptions, publications & memberships 60,762 56,507

Legal fees 10,141 38,372

ASX 6,795 4,801

Bank Charges 5,592 5,321

Communication & computer expenses 31,650 31,033

Office expenses 40,075 49,070

Other expenses 100,796 59,335

886,980 910,183
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5. Income Tax
The major components of income tax expense are: 

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Current income tax

Current income tax charge/(benefit)           63,079           37,963 

Rearch & Development Tax offset       (226,741)                    -   

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the statement of comprehensive income       (163,662)           37,963 

 
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit before income tax multiplied by the Group’s 
applicable income tax rate is as follows:

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Accounting loss before income tax   (1,971,977)   (1,958,359)

At the Group's statutory income tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%)       (591,593)       (587,508)

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes        114,405           52,862 

Other deductible items        455,181        121,906 

Tax losses not recognised due to not meeting recognition criteria           22,007        412,740 

Tax portion of share issue costs           63,079           37,963 

Rearch & Development Tax offset       (226,741)                    -   

      (163,662)           37,963 

The Group has tax losses arising in Australia of $28,810,302 (2011: $25,524,591) that may be available and may be offset 
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. 

No DTA has been recognised because it is not likely future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount 
sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised.

Tax consolidation

Petratherm Limited and its group have not yet decided to implement the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2008. 
The Australian Taxation Office has not yet been notified of any decision. The accounting policy relating to the possible 
implementation of the tax consolidation legislation is set out in note 2(h), together with the impact on the income tax 
expense for the year.
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6. Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit or loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares.

The following reflects the net loss and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Net loss from continued operations (1,808,315) (1,996,322)

2012 2011

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 145,938,009 119,499,419

Effect of dilution N/A N/A

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 145,938,009 119,499,419

In accordance with AASB 133 ‘Earnings per Share’, as potential ordinary shares may only result in a situation where their 
conversion results in an increase in loss per share or decrease in profit per share from continuing operations, no dilutive 
effect has been taken into account in 2011 and 2012.
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7. Cash And Cash Equivalents

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Cash at bank and in hand 189,100 545,090

Short-term deposits 1,125,478 1,383,906

1,314,578 1,928,996

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and six months, depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Reconciliation to Statement of Cash Flows

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the following at 30 June:

Cash at banks and in hand 189,100 545,090

Short-term deposits 1,125,478 1,383,906

1,314,578 1,928,996

Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) after tax to net cash flows from operations

Net loss (1,808,315) (1,996,322)

Adjustments for non-cash items:  

Depreciation 35,124 58,818

Impairment of non-current assets 449,511 3,267

Non-cash income tax expense (163,662) 37,963

Share options expensed 47,900 198,266

Changes in assets and liabilities 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 436,699 1,514,085

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (22,440) 5,374

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (197,454) (1,692,373)

(Decrease)/increase in employee entitlements (74,865) (673,903)

(Decrease)/increase in net goods and service tax receivable (16,747) 900,244

Net cash from operating activities (1,314,249) (1,644,581)
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8. Trade And Other Receivables

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Trade receivables (i) 17,925 4,036

Goods & Services Tax receivable 36,952 103,698

JV Contributions receivable(ii) 5,098 13,599

59,975 121,333

i). Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 day terms. An allowance for doubtful debts is 
made when there is objective evidence that a trade receivable is impaired. No impairment was recognised in 2011 or 
2012 and no receivables are past due at balance date.

ii). Contributions receivable relate to amounts due from joint venture parties. 

9. Other Current Assets
Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Prepayments 38,612 55,872

Accrued income 5,006 10,186

43,618 66,058

10. Property, Plant And Equipment
Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Plant and equipment

Cost

Balance at 1 July 384,274 385,163

Additions 1,797 -

Disposals (39,608) (889)

Balance at 30 June 346,463 384,274

Accumulated Depreciation 

Balance at 1 July 241,354 182,536

Depreciation for the year 35,124 58,818

Disposals (13,992) -

Balance at 30 June 262,486 241,354

Total net book value as at 30 June 83,977 142,920

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

No material impairment loss was recognised or reversed for the year ended 30 June 2011 and 2012 with respect to plant 
and equipment.

The depreciation rate of the assets was estimated as follows both for 2011 and 2012:

Plant and equipment 10 – 50%.
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11. Exploration And Evaluation Assets

Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward in respect of Geothermal areas of interest 

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Exploration and evaluation phases 18,583,124 17,804,547

18,583,124 17,804,547

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on the successful 
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective geothermal areas.

Consolidated 
entity

Total

Capitalised tenement expenditure movement reconciliation

Balance at the beginning of the year   17,804,547 

Additions through expenditure capitalised         998,169 

Joint venture contributions         449,246 

Forex Movement       (219,327)

Write off of tenements relinquished       (449,511)

Balance at end of year   18,583,124 

The impairment expense of $449,511 arose from a review of the Group’s capitalised costs and the relevant tenements to 
which the costs related. Costs written off related to tenements relinquished during the year.
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12. Share-Based Payments

Employee Share Option Plan

The Group has established the Petratherm Limited Employee Share Option Plan and a summary of the Rules of the Plan 
are set out below:

•	 All	employees	(full	and	part	time)	will	be	eligible	to	participate	in	the	Plan	after	a	qualifying	period	of	12	months	
employment	by	a	member	of	the	Group,	although	the	board	may	waive	this	requirement;

•	 Options	are	granted	under	the	Plan	at	the	discretion	of	the	board	and	if	permitted	by	the	board,	may	be	issued	to	an	
employee’s	nominee;

•	 Each	option	is	to	subscribe	for	one	fully	paid	ordinary	share	in	the	Company	and	will	expire	5	years	from	its	date	of	
issue.  An option is exercisable at any time from its date of issue.  Options will be issued free.  The exercise price of 
options will be determined by the board, subject to a minimum price equal to the market value of the Company’s 
shares at the time the board resolves to offer those options.  The total number of shares, the subject of options 
issued under the Plan, when aggregated with issues during the previous 5 years pursuant to the Plan and any other 
employee	share	plan,	must	not	exceed	5%	of	the	Company’s	issued	share	capital;

•	 If,	prior	to	the	expiry	date	of	options,	a	person	ceases	to	be	an	employee	of	a	Group	Company	for	any	reason	other	
than retirement at age 60 or more (or such earlier age as the board permits), permanent disability, redundancy or 
death, the options held by that person (or that person’s nominee) automatically lapse on the first to occur of a) 
the expiry of the period of 6 months from the date of such occurrence, and b) the expiry date. If a person dies, the 
options	held	by	that	person	will	be	exercisable	by	that	person’s	legal	personal	representative;

•	 Options	cannot	be	transferred	other	than	to	the	legal	personal	representative	of	a	deceased	option	holder;

•	 The	Group	will	not	apply	for	official	quotation	of	any	options;

•	 Shares	issued	as	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	options	will	rank	equally	with	the	Company’s	previously	issued	shares;

•	 Option	holders	may	only	participate	in	new	issues	of	securities	by	first	exercising	their	options.
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The board may amend the Plan Rules subject to the requirements of the Australian Securities Exchange Listing Rules.

The expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in 
note 4(c).

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) and movements in share 
options issued during the year:

2012 2011

No. WAEP No. WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 4,060,000 0.35 2,715,000 0.56

Granted during the year 400,000 0.04 2,695,000 0.37

Forfeited during the year (2,130,000) 0.44 (1,350,000) 0.44

Exercised during the year - - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year 2,330,000 0.26 4,060,000 0.35

Exercisable at the end of the year 2,330,000 0.26 4,060,000 0.35

The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2012 is represented by:

•	 A	total	of	30,000	options	exercisable	any	time	until	7	January	2013	with	a	strike	price	of	$1.20

•	 A	total	of	50,000	options	exercisable	any	time	until	6	October	2013	with	a	strike	price	of	$0.56

•	 A	total	of	150,000	options	exercisable	any	time	until	27	November	2013	with	a	strike	price	of	$0.42

•	 A	total	of	350,000	options	exercisable	any	time	until	23	December	2014	with	a	strike	price	of	$0.50

•	 A	total	of	600,000	options	exercisable	any	time	until	5	July	2015	with	a	strike	price	of	$0.20.

•	 A	total	of	800,000	options	exercisable	any	time	until	30	January	2016	with	a	strike	price	of	$0.15

•	 A	total	of	350,000	options	exercisable	any	time	until	8	January	2017	with	a	strike	price	of	$0.14

Contractual life of options

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2012 is 2.74 years (2011: 
3.53 years).

Exercise price of options

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.14-$1.20 (2011: $0.15-$1.20).

Fair value of options

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.04 (2011: $0.35).

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the option plan is estimated as at the date of grant using 
a Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 
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The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2012:

2012 2011

Historical volatility (%) 74.63% 73.53%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.52% 5.21%

Expected life of option (years) 5 5

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that 
may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of options granted were incorporated into the 
measurement of fair value.

Director Options

The Group issues options to directors in order to retain their services and provide incentive linked to the performance of 
the Company. Shareholder approval is sought for all options issued to directors in accordance with applicable legislation. 

During the year, the Group issued a total of 500,000 options to the Managing Director. Full details of option holdings 
of directors and company secretary are disclosed in the remuneration report. The fair value of the equity-settled share 
options granted to directors is calculated using the method detailed above. The following table lists the inputs to the 
model used for the year ended 30 June 2012:

2012 2011

Historical volatility (%) 74.63% 73.53%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.52% 5.21%

Expected life of option (years) 5 5

 
13. Trade And Other Payables

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Trade payables (i) 62,460 258,799

Other Payables 93,638 344,691

156,098 603,490

(i) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.
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14. Borrowings

2012 2011

Current

Hire purchase contracts - 7,163

- 7,163

Non-current

Hire purchase contracts - 19,735

- 19,735

15. Provisions

2012 2011

Current

Annual leave/Long Service Leave provision

Balance at 1 July 138,915 118,461

Transfer to/ (from) provision (94,825) 20,454

Closing Balance 30 June 44,090 138,915

Non-current

Long Service Leave:

Balance at 1 July 38,664 88,461

Transfer to/ (from) provision (30,040) (49,797)

Closing Balance 30 June 8,624 38,664

Provision for Long-term Employee Benefits 

A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. In calculating the present value 
of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based on historical 
data. The measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits have been included in Note 2(p) to this 
report.

Provision for Current Employee Benefits 

A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to annual leave. Annual leave is expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date
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16. Other Non-Current Liabilities

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Deferred Government Grants    2,898,000    2,898,000 

   2,898,000    2,898,000 

17. Issued Capital

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

148,731,583 fully paid ordinary shares (2011: 126,751,583) 31,450,493 28,850,178

31,450,493 28,850,178

2012 2011

Number $ Number $

Balance at beginning of financial year 126,751,583 28,850,178 111,711,583 27,434,757

Shares issued via placement 
@ 10 cents per share - - 15,040,000 1,504,000

Issued pursuant to share purchase plan 
@ $0.125 cents per share 3,668,000 458,500 - -

Shares issued via placement 
@ $0.125 cents per share 18,312,000 2,289,000 - -

Transaction costs on share issue - (210,264) - (126,542)

Tax portion of capital raising costs - 63,079 - 37,963

Balance at end of financial year 148,731,583 31,450,493 126,751,583 28,850,178

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends (in the event such a dividend was 
declared).
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18. Reserves

Share option reserve 

The share option reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share options and other equity 
settled transactions.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency translation 
reserve, as discussed in note 2(s).

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Reserves

Foreign currency translation      (931,400)      (712,073)

Share option reserve        719,986    1,219,166 

     (211,414)        358,433 

Foreign currency translation

Balance at beginning of financial year      (712,073)      (563,413)

Foreign exchange translations      (219,327)      (148,660)

Balance at end of financial year      (931,400)      (712,073)

Share option reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year    1,219,166    1,217,180 

Transfer from employee equity-settled benefits reserve upon cancellation of 
vested options 

     (547,080)      (225,080)

Issue of Share Options          47,900        198,266 

Transfer to retained earnings from share option reserve                   -            28,800 

Balance at end of financial year        719,986    1,219,166 

19. Retained Earnings

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Balance at beginning of financial year (12,999,384) (11,199,342)

Net profit attributable to members of the parent entity (1,808,315) (1,996,322)

Transfer from employee equity-settled benefits reserve 
upon cancellation of vested options 547,080 225,080

Transfer to retained earnings from share option reserve - (28,800)

Balance at end of financial year (14,260,619) (12,999,384)
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20. Minority Interest

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Contributed capital 1,299 344

Opening share of losses (1,299) (344)

Balance at end of financial year - -

21. Commitments For Expenditure

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Operating leases

Not longer than 1 year 113,460 113,460

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 18,910 132,370

Longer than 5 years - -

132,370 245,830

Hire purchase commitments

Not longer than 1 year - 16,419

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years - 6,655

Longer than 5 years - -

- 23,074

Terms of lease arrangements

The Group has operating leases in place for plant and equipment and its principal place of business. The plant and 
equipment lease has 4 year lease and the principal place of business having a 5 year lease. Both leases have terms of 
renewal and the lease for the Group’s principal place of residence has an escalation clause linked to CPI.

Exploration leases

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements the Group will be required to outlay $476,648 in 
respect of tenement lease rentals and to meet minimum expenditure requirements.

22. Contingent Assets And Liabilities

At the date of signing this report, the Group is not aware of any contingent asset or liability that should be disclosed 
in accordance with AASB 137. It is however noted that the Company has entered into various bank guarantees with a 
number of State Governments in Australia, totalling $177,403 at 30 June 2012. These guarantees are designed to act as 
collateral over the tenements which Petratherm explores on and can be used by the relevant Government authorities in 
the event that Petratherm does not sufficiently rehabilitate the land it explores. It is noted that the bank guarantees have 
as at the date of signing this report have not been utilised by any State Government.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements



64  Petratherm 2012 Annual Report

23. Auditor’s Remuneration

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Audit or review of financial report 28,750 31,600

28,750 31,600

No other services have been provided

24. Subsidiaries
Ownership interest

Name of entity
Country of 

incorporation
2012 
%*

2011 
%*

Parent entity

Petratherm Ltd Australia

Subsidiary

MNGI Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Subsidiary

Heliotherm Ltd Australia 100 100

Subsidiary

PTR Holdings BV Netherlands 100 100

Subsidiary

Petratherm Espana SL Spain 93 93

* Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership

25. Financial Risk Management Objectives And Policies And Financial Instruments

Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the 
parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in notes 17, 18 and 19 respectively.

Proceeds from share issues are used to maintain and expand the Group’s exploration activities and fund operating costs. 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.
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Categories of financial instruments

Consolidated

2012 
$

2011 
$

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,314,578 1,928,996

Trade and other receivables 59,975 121,333

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables 156,098 603,490

Borrowings - 26,898

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from activities. 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any Group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high 
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and 
liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements



66  Petratherm 2012 Annual Report

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table 
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 

Financial Liabilities - Year ended 30 June 2012
< 1year 

 $

 > 1 - <5 
years 

 $ 

Non-Interest 
Bearing 

 $ 
Total 

 $ 

Fixed rate

Trade and Other Payables  - - 156,098         156,098 

Borrowings  -  -  -                   -   

Weighted average effective interest rate  - 0.00%  -  - 

Financial Liabilities - Year ended 30 June 2011    

Fixed rate

Trade and Other Payables - - 603,490 603,490 

Borrowings - 26,898 - 26,898 

Weighted average effective interest rate  - 6.98%  -  - 

The table below has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including 
interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different 
period.

Financial Assets - Year ended 30 June 2012
< 1year 

 $

 > 1 - <5 
years 

 $ 

Non-Interest 
Bearing 

 $ 
Total 

 $ 

Fixed rate

Cash assets      1,125,478  -  -      1,125,478 

Receivables - - 59,975           59,975 

Weighted average effective interest rate 4.27%  -  -  - 

Floating rate

Cash assets         189,100  -  -         189,100 

Weighted average effective interest rate 3.50%  -  -  - 

Financial Assets - Year ended 30 June 2011    

Fixed rate

Term Deposits      1,383,906  -  -      1,383,906 

Receivables  - - 121,333         121,333 

Weighted average effective interest rate 5.70%  -  -  - 

Floating rate

Cash assets         545,090 -   -           545,090 

Weighted average effective interest rate 4.75%                 -                 -  - 

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, 
the Group’s:

•	 net	loss	would	increase	or	decrease	by	$6,573	which	is	mainly	attributable	to	the	Group’s	exposure	to	interest	rates	
on its variable bank deposits.
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26. Related Party Disclosure And Key Management Personnel Remuneration

Payments to related parties

HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Limited has received professional fees for accounting, taxation and secretarial services provided 
during the year amounting to $145,435 (2011: $141,426). Donald Stephens, the company secretary, is a consultant with 
HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Limited.

O’Loughlins lawyers of which Simon O’Loughlin is a partner received legal fees of $34,955 (2011:$30,779) during the 
year.

Professor Richard Hillis has a consultancy agreement with the Company and received no geological consulting fees in 
2011 or 2012.

Throughout the year, Petratherm Limited was invoiced by a director related entity Minotaur Exploration Limited, for the 
provision of technical staff and equipment, as well as reimbursements for expenditure jointly incurred, Mr Carter & Mr 
Bonython are directors of Minotaur Exploration Ltd.  These transactions were undertaken on arms length basis and in 
aggregate for the year ended 30 June 2012 totalled $NIL (2011:$3,637).

All related party transactions are conducted as commercial rates on all arms length basis. 

The following individuals are classified as key management personnel in accordance with AASB 124 ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’:

Derek Carter (Chairman)

Terry Kallis  (Managing Director)

Richard Bonython (Non-Executive Director)

Richard Hillis (Non-Executive Director)

Simon O’Loughlin (Non-Executive Director)

Lewis Owens (Non-Executive Director)

Donald Stephens (Company Secretary)

Peter Reid (Exploration Manager)

The remuneration details of the above personnel can be found in the body of the directors’ report. The totals of 
remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group during the year are as follows :

2012 
$

2011 
$

Consolidated group

Short-term employee benefits 718,827 721,004

Post employment benefits 43,171 60,092

Share-based payments 36,700 85,600

798,698 866,696
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Wholly owned Group transactions

Loans

The wholly owned Group consists of Petratherm Limited and its wholly owned controlled entity MNGI Pty Limited, 
Heliotherm Limited, PTR Holdings BV and majority owned Petratherm Espana SL. Ownership interests in the controlled 
entity are set out in note 24. Transactions between Petratherm Limited and its subsidiaries during the year consisted of 
loans advanced by Petratherm Limited to fund exploration and investment activities. The closing value of the loan to 
its wholly owned subsidiary is contained within the statement of financial position under current assets. Intercompany 
and cash movements throughout the year are detailed within the body of the statement of cash flows under ‘Loans to 
wholly-owned subsidiary’.

27. Subsequent Events After The Balance Date

On 5 September 2012 the Group announced that it had been invited to submit a Project Funding Application under the 
Australian Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA) $126 million Emerging Renewables Program for the next stage of works 
for the Paralana geothermal JV Project.

On 19 September 2012 the company announced a capital raising by way of one for three pro-rata non-renounceable 
rights issue, with one free attaching option (with the options to be quoted on ASX) being issued for every one new share 
issued. Each attaching option will have an exercise price of $0.03 and an expiry date two years after the date of grant.

Other than those matters noted there were no other material subsequent events.

28. Additional Information (Joint Ventures)

Beach Energy Limited is an oil & gas company that farmed-in to the Paralana Project in January 2007. Beach can earn up 
to 36% of the project for $30 million plus their equity share of project costs.
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29. Parent Entity Information

Parent

Financial Position
2012 

$
2011 

$

Assets

Current Assets 1,306,648 1,904,003

Non-current Assets 16,405,262 14,839,105

17,711,910 16,743,108

Liabilities

Current Liabilities 144,304 326,823

Non-current Liabilities 8,624 58,399

152,928 385,222

Equity

Issued Capital 31,450,493 28,850,178

Reserves 719,986 1,219,166

Retained Earnings (14,611,497) (13,711,457)

17,558,982 16,357,887

Financial Position

(Loss) for the year (1,439,512) (2,144,981)

Other comprehensive income - -

(1,439,512) (2,144,981)

Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity have been incorporated into the Group information in note 22. The contingent 
liabilities of the parent are consistent with that of the Group.

Contractual Commitments

Contractual Commitments of the parent entity have been incorporated into the Group information in note 21. 

30. Going Concern Basis Of Accounting

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of a going concern.

The consolidated entity incurred a net loss before tax of $1,971,977 during the year ended 30 June 2012, and had a net 
cash outflow of $3,124,756 from operating and investing activities. The consolidated entity continues to be reliant upon 
the completion of capital raising for continued operations and the provision of working capital.

If additional capital is not obtained, the going concern basis may not be appropriate, with the result that the Group 
may have to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities, other than in the ordinary course of business and at amounts 
different from those stated in the financial report.  No allowance for such circumstances has been made in the annual 
financial report.
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The directors of the Company declare that:

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 30 to 68, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
and:

a.		 comply	with	Australian	Accounting	Standards;	

b.  give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2012 and the performance for the year ended on that 
date	of	the	Company	and	consolidated	Group;	and

c. comply with International Financial Report Standards as disclosed in Note 2. 

2.  the Managing Director and Company Secretary have each declared that:

a. the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with section 
286	of	the	Corporations	Act	2001;

b.	the	financial	statements	and	notes	for	the	financial	year	comply	with	the	Accounting	Standards;	and

c. the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view.

3.  in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the board of Directors.

 

Terry Kallis  
Managing Director

Dated 27th September 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of Petratherm Ltd 

 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Petratherm Ltd (the “Company”), 
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the 
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the Company and the entities it 
controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors responsibility for the financial report 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001  and for such internal control as the Directors determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Directors also state, 
in the notes to the financial report, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements, the financial statements comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 
free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
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free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
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judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error.  

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
Company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.   

 
Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion: 

a the financial report of Petratherm Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the  consolidated entity’s financial position as at 
30 June 2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001; and 

b the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  

 

Significant uncertainty regarding continuation as a going concern 

The consolidated entity incurred a net loss before tax of $1,971,977 during the year ended 
30 June 2012, and had a net cash outflow of $3,124,756 from operating and investing 
activities. The consolidated entity continues to be reliant upon the completion of capital 
raising for continued operations and the provision of working capital. 

Without qualifying our opinion attention is drawn to Note 30 - Going Concern Basis of 
Accounting in the financial report. These conditions indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and therefore the consolidated entity may be unable to realise 
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its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts 
stated in the financial report. 

Report on the remuneration report  

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 12 to 20 of the directors’ report 
for the year ended 30 June 2012. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of 
the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration 
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 
Auditor’s opinion on the remuneration report 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Petratherm Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2012, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

GRANT THORNTON SOUTH AUSTRALIAN PARTNERSHIP 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 
 

J L Humphrey 
Partner 
 
Adelaide, 27 September 2012 
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stated in the financial report. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2012. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of 
the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration 
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
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Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this report is as 
follows. The information is current as at 30 September 2012

Distribution of equity securities

Ordinary share capital

•	 148,731,583	fully	paid	ordinary	shares	are	held	by	3,664	individual	shareholders.	

All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share.

Options

•	 7,780,000	options	are	held	by	10	individual	option	holders.

The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class are:

Fully paid 
ordinary shares

Unquoted 
Options

1 - 1,000 299  - 

1,001 - 5,000 953  - 

5,001 - 10,000 675  - 

10,001 - 100,000 1,538 4

100,001 and over 199 25

3,664 29

Holding less than a marketable parcel 2,242 -

Substantial shareholders Fully paid

Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage

Minotaur Resources Investments Pty Ltd 22,707,397 15.27%

National Nominees Limited 10,602,485 7.13%

33,309,882 22.40%

ASX Additional Information 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities 

Fully paid ordinary shares

Number Percentage

MINOTAUR RESOURCES INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 22,707,397 15.27%

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 10,602,485 7.13%

YARRAANDOO PTY LTD 
<YARRAANDOO SUPER FUND A/C> 2,410,915 1.62%

P & J PHELAN PTY LTD 2,132,500 1.43%

MR PAUL VENNARD PHELAN 2,000,000 1.34%

LOCANTRO SPECULATIVE INVESTMENTS LIMITED 1,280,000 0.86%

MR DEREK NORTHLEIGH CARTER 1,200,000 0.81%

DORICA NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,187,146 0.80%

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
<CASH INCOME A/C> 787,945 0.53%

ROMADAK PTY LTD 
<ROMADAK SUPER FUND A/C> 775,480 0.52%

EURO PACIFIC HOLDINGS PTY LTD 750,000 0.50%

DR DONALD ANTHONY WALLIS + MRS ANDREA CHRISTINA VAN DE WATER 
<ANDON S/F A/C> 750,000 0.50%

MR IMAN VOSOUGHI 740,732 0.50%

MR RUSSELL KEITH HODGE + MRS JUSTINE HODGE 700,000 0.47%

MR DOUGLAS ALEXANDER MACKELVIE + MRS DALMA PATRICIA MACKELVIE 
<MACKELVIE PENSION FUND A/C> 699,751 0.47%

MR PHILIP ARTHUR ROGERSON + MRS KATHRYN GAE ROGERSON 
+ MISS CHRISTINA ROGERSON 
<THE ROGERSON SUPER FUND A/C> 668,734 0.45%

MR ALAN EDWARD MACTAVISH + MRS DIANA MUNRO MACTAVISH 
<AAM SUPERANNUATION FUND A/C> 648,532 0.44%

MR JOHN WILLIAM SCHANK 642,000 0.43%

ROMADAK PTY LTD <ROMADAK SUPER FUND A/C> 560,480 0.38%

MR ANTHONY JOHN ANDREATTA + MRS HELEN MARION ANDREATTA 
<ANDREATTA SUPER FUND A/C> 538,000 0.36%

51,782,097 34.81%

ASX Additional Information 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Tenement Summary
Australia

Tenement Area (km2)

 
Registered holder/ 

Applicant
Company  
interest

South Australia

Paralana GEL 156 998 MNGI Pty Ltd 79%

GEL 254 498 MNGI Pty Ltd 79%

GEL 336 408 MNGI Pty Ltd 79%

Moolawatana

GEL 603 2,593 MNGI Pty Ltd 100%

Victoria

East Gippsland GEP24 9,049 MNGI Pty Ltd 100%

 
Spain

Tenement Area (km2)

 
Registered holder/ 

Applicant
Company  
interest

Tenerife

Garehagua 1 2053 98 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Berolo 1 2054 90 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Guayafanta 2052 98 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Abeque 2057 98 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Gran Canaria

Atidama 151 83 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Madrid

Valdebebas 3454-010 11 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Madrid-2016 3455-010 7 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Geomadrid 3450-110 10 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Quiñones 3459-010 13 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

El Capricho 3461-010 27 Petratherm España SL 93.023%

Longares 3460-010 33 Petratherm España SL 93.023%
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Notes
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